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I. Introduction  
 
 On Saturday, August 18, 2007, at approximately 3:30 pm, a fire started at the former 
Deutsche Bank building, which is located at 130 Liberty Street in lower Manhattan.  Work at the 
site had stopped for the day at approximately 3:00 pm, and was not scheduled to resume until 
Monday, August 20, 2007, since work was not done at the site on Sundays.  The fire on August 
18th grew to seven alarms and circumstances in the building encountered by the firefighters 
resulted in the deaths of New York City Firefighters Robert Beddia and Joseph Graffagnino.1  
One hundred other firefighters who responded that day were injured.     
 
 Immediately after the fire, the New York County District Attorney’s Office (NYCDAO) 
opened a criminal investigation that resulted in criminal charges that were filed against the John 
Galt Corporation, two of its employees, and the Site Safety Manger of Bovis Lend Lease in 
December of 2008 for manslaughter, criminally negligent homicide and reckless endangerment.2  
At the request of the NYCDAO, the administration deferred an investigation of the facts and 
circumstances leading up to the fire until such time as the District Attorney determined that it 
would not interfere with the ongoing criminal investigation.  In the meantime, Mayor Bloomberg 
ordered a comprehensive review of the City’s regulation of construction, demolition, and 
abatement operations that was completed in July 2008.  The Mayor accepted the 33 
recommendations developed through that review, all of which are currently being implemented.3  
 

The decontamination and deconstruction of the Deutsche Bank building was and remains 
a complex undertaking.  At the time of the fire, these operations were taking place 
simultaneously, with a minimum 4-floor buffer between demolition and decontamination.4  
Many City, State, and Federal agencies had a role in the oversight of these operations; but prior 
to the fire, communication between these agencies was poor—particularly with respect to 
conditions in the building.  This lack of communication had a tragic result: the firefighters who 
responded to 130 Liberty Street on August 18, 2007 did not know the complexity of the 
conditions they would face.5 

                                                 
1   Joseph Graffagnino was posthumously promoted to the rank of lieutenant after the fire. 
    
2  Three individuals and one company were charged: The John Galt Corp., Bovis Lend Lease’s subcontractor on the 
project; Jeffrey Melofchik, the Site Safety Manager for Bovis on the project; Mitchel Alvo, the Director of 
Abatement for the John Galt Corp.; and Salvatore DePaola, a John Galt Corp. foreman.  Separately, the NYCDAO 
entered into a non-prosecution agreement with Bovis Lend Lease LMB, Inc.  Lastly, the NYCDAO also issued a 32-
page written statement of facts regarding the Deutsche Bank fire that was critical of the contractors, the City’s fire 
and buildings agencies. 
     
3 See City of New York, Strengthening the Safety, Oversight and Coordination of Construction, Demolition and 
Abatement Operations: Report & Recommendations to Mayor Michael R. Bloomberg (July 2008), available online 
at www.nyc.gov/html/dep/pdf/pr277-08_safety_report.pdf. 
 
4 Following the fire, these operations were decoupled, and decontamination is expected to be complete by July 2009. 
 
5 These conditions are extensively documented in the FDNY’s Investigative Report: Manhattan Box 7-7 0047, 130 
Liberty Street, August 18, 2007 (August 21, 2008). 
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 After the criminal investigation culminated in criminal charges, and notwithstanding that 
case, the Department of Investigation (DOI) was asked to conduct an administrative 
investigation jointly with the New York City Fire Department’s (FDNY) Bureau of 
Investigations and Trials (BITS), and the Department of Buildings (DOB) Internal Audits and 
Disciplinary Unit (IAD), concerning and examining what went wrong within City agency 
operations.   
 
 During the course of this investigation, thousands of pages of documents were reviewed, 
nearly sixty FDNY interviews were conducted, and nearly twenty DOB interviews were 
conducted.   
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II. Administrative Investigation Regarding the Fire Department 
  
 The former Deutsche Bank building, once a 41-story office building that was damaged in 
the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks, is located in lower Manhattan at 130 Liberty Street.  
The building is across the street from the World Trade Center site, and in its shadow sits the 
FDNY’s 10/10 Firehouse.  The 10/10 Firehouse is the home of two FDNY companies, Ladder 10 
and Engine 10.   
 
 The most important and vital role of the Fire Department is to fight fires; but the 
members of the FDNY do much than that.  All FDNY companies are required to inspect certain 
buildings within their assigned administrative districts, including buildings under construction 
and demolition.  Inspections of buildings under construction and demolition are required under a 
FDNY regulation that is referred to as the 15 Day Rule, since these inspections are required at 
least every fifteen days.  The Deutsche Bank building is in Engine 10’s administrative district 
and had been under decontamination since March 2006; demolition commenced in March 2007.       
  
 In the FDNY chain of command, companies are supervised by battalion chiefs assigned 
to a battalion command.   Battalion One has command of various units, including Engine 10.  
Battalion commands, and the units assigned to them, are supervised by deputy chiefs who are 
assigned to a division command.  Division One supervises five battalions, including Battalion 
One.  The Manhattan Borough Command supervises both the divisions in Manhattan, including 
Division One.  The five Borough Commanders in New York City report directly to the Chief of 
Operations, who reports to the Chief of Department, who reports to the Commissioner.   
 
 At the company, battalion and division level, FDNY commanders are required to 
designate fire prevention liaison officers.  These officers, who are more commonly referred to as 
building inspection coordinators, are then tasked with ensuring that building inspections are 
carried out.   
 
 From the time demolition commenced at 130 Liberty Street on March 20, 2007, until the 
fatal fire on August 18, 2007, not a single inspection was done by FDNY at the site.  This 
investigation revealed that before the fire, the 15 Day Rule was generally known within the 
Department, but too often disregarded and building inspection coordinators at Engine 10, 
Battalion One and Division One had either not been designated or did not understand or 
appreciate their roles.      
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A. FDNY Rules and Regulations  
 
 The FDNY is charged with the prevention of fire and the protection of life and property 
from fire; the FDNY’s Fire Prevention Manual sets forth the rules that govern the Department’s 
preventive inspection program that seeks to meet that mandate.  There are several rules within 
the manual and within FDNY regulations generally that were in place on August 18, 2007 that 
form the basis of the investigative findings.  All firefighters and fire officers are expected to 
comply with FDNY regulations and the requirements set forth in the Fire Prevention Manual.   
 

In order to become a fire officer in the FDNY, a firefighter must take and pass an exam to 
achieve the first fire officer rank of lieutenant.  Subsequent tests are then required for officers to 
move up the chain of command from lieutenant to captain, from captain to battalion chief, and 
from battalion chief to deputy chief.  In preparation for those tests, individuals study, among 
other things, FDNY regulations and the Fire Prevention Manual, as requirements listed in both 
are on the tests.   
 
 The following rules and regulations that were in effect at the time of the fire (see 
attached) form the basis of the investigative findings and conclusions:   
 

• FDNY Fire Prevention Manual Chapter 5 § 5.8.1 states that "companies discovering 
buildings under construction or demolition within their administrative districts shall 
inspect these sites at least once every fifteen (15) days.” 

 
• Rules of the City of New York (RCNY), Title 3 §11-01(a), which is reprinted in Chapter 

5 of the Fire Prevention Manual states "Deputy Chiefs shall cause continued inspections 
of buildings in the course of construction and demolition at least every fifteen (15) days, 
but more often where conditions dictate." 

 
• FDNY Fire Prevention Manual Chapter 8 § 8.4.2 states that “in order to establish the Fire 

Prevention administrative chain of command within the company level of operations, the 
Company Commander shall designate a Lieutenant of his command to have primary 
responsibility for the proper administration of Fire Prevention matters.  He shall work in 
close liaison with chief officers in updating company Fire Prevention records.” 

 
• Regulation 6.1.1 outlines the administrative duties of deputy chiefs and states “a Deputy 

Chief, other than the Division Commander, shall be designated as Fire Prevention Liaison 
Officer by the Division Commander, subject to the approval of the Chief of Department.” 

 
•  Regulation 7.1.1 outlines the administrative duties of battalion chiefs and states “a 

battalion chief, other than the battalion commander, shall be designated as fire prevention 
liaison officer by the division commander, subject to the approval of the Chief of 
Department.” 

 
• Regulation 7.4.4 states “battalion chiefs shall supervise the inspection of buildings in 

their Battalion administrative districts” and they “shall see that all regulations or orders 
relative thereto are strictly enforced.”   
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B. FDNY Chain of Command and Relevant Officers at the Time of the Fire 
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C. Timeline and Relevant Documents  
 
• September 11, 2001 - The South Tower of the World Trade Center collapsed onto the 

Deutsche Bank building at 130 Liberty Street, filling the building with debris and hazardous 
materials.   

 
• September 27, 2004 – Thomas Meara, who was then the Captain of Engine 10, wrote a 

memo addressed to Salvatore Cassano, who was the Chief of Operations at the time, detailing 
a response to 130 Liberty Street for glass falling from the building.    

 
• December 4, 2004 – Thomas Engel, who was then the Captain of Ladder 10, wrote a memo 

addressed to Richard Fuerch, who was the Division One Commander at the time, requesting 
the development of a standard operating procedure (SOP) for 130 Liberty Street. 

 
• January 15, 2005 – William Siegel, who was then a Battalion Chief in Battalion One, wrote 

a draft memo addressed to Division One Commander Richard Fuerch, recommending weekly 
surveillances as well as the development of an SOP for 130 Liberty Street.  

 
• February 21, 2005 - William Siegel wrote a draft memo addressed to Richard Fuerch with 

updates to the conditions at 130 Liberty Street since the January 15, 2005 memo.   
 
• February 24, 2005 - Richard Fuerch wrote an e-mail to William Siegel asking if HAZMAT 

was consulted regarding the SOP for 130 Liberty Street and requesting a site visit. 
 
• February 26, 2005 - William Siegel wrote an e-mail to Division One noting that after 

attending a site visit at 130 Liberty Street, on January 15, 2005, Nicholas Delre, who was 
then a Battalion Chief in the HazMat Battalion, felt that the normal SOPs were sufficient.  
Siegel stated “that might be okay if everyone is made aware of the conditions of the 
building.”  Siegel further recommended periodic updates of the Critical Information Dispatch 
System (CIDS) card for 130 Liberty Street based on his belief that the demolition would lead 
to ever-changing conditions. 

 
• March 22, 2005 – William Siegel wrote a draft memo addressed to Richard Fuerch with 

updates to the conditions at 130 Liberty Street since the February 21, 2005 memo. 
 
• November 17, 2005 – A memo was sent from the Manhattan Borough Command to 

Salvatore Cassano, who was the Chief of Operations at the time, and to Battalion One and 
Division One, notifying them that an “advisory committee” was created to establish 
communication between all parties regarding 130 Liberty Street.  Battalion One was 
instructed to assign a Battalion Chief to represent the Department.   

 
• November 18, 2005 – John Bley, who was then a Deputy Chief of Division One, wrote a 

memo to Roger Sakowich, who was the Battalion Commander at Battalion One at the time, 
instructing Battalion One to assign a Battalion Chief to represent the Department at any and 
all advisory committee meetings regarding 130 Liberty Street.  
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• November 21, 2005 – Roger Sakowich wrote a memo to Harold Meyers, who was 

Manhattan Borough Commander, that was examined and approved by Deputy Chief John 
Bley, stating that Battalion Chief Robert Norcross will be FDNY’s liaison to 130 Liberty 
Street and that Roger Sakowich would be the alternate. 

 
• May 2004 – March 2006 - Captain Thomas Meara and Lieutenant Sean O’Malley of Engine 

10 conducted at least fourteen inspections of 130 Liberty Street.   
 
• 2006 - Captain Thomas Meara and Lieutenant Sean O’Malley left Engine 10 in spring for 

other assignments.  
 
• March 20, 2007 – Demolition work began at 130 Liberty Street. 
 
• April 8, 2007 – An e-mail was sent from Engine 10 to Roger Sakowich informing him that 

the Construction Supervisor at 101 Warren Street offered to schedule a walk through of that 
building for members of the 10 House in order to familiarize them with buildings under 
construction.   

 
• May 17, 2007 – A pipe from the Deutsche Bank building fell through the roof of the Engine 

10 / Ladder 10 Firehouse  
 
• May 21, 2007 – The Manhattan Borough Command draft Strategic Plan was sent from the 

Manhattan Borough Command (specifically Gregory Bierster, a Battalion Chief at the 
Manhattan Borough Command) to Kerry Stephen, another Battalion Chief assigned to the 
Manhattan Borough Command. 

 
• June 7, 2007 – John Bley, who was then a Deputy Chief of Division One, wrote a memo to 

“Battalion’s 1, 2, 4, 6, and 7”, informing them that “buildings under construction are required 
to be inspected once every 15 days by the administrative company.”  Bley stated that the plan 
was to assign light duty personnel this responsibility.  Bley requested each Battalion prepare 
a list of buildings under construction in their district.   

 
• August 7, 2007 – In response to a medical emergency run at 130 Liberty Street on August 6, 

2007, Robert Norcross, who was then a Battalion Chief in Battalion One, wrote a memo to 
Peter Bosco, who was the Captain in Engine 10 at the time, instructing him that all safety 
precautions should be observed including the appropriate Personal Protective Equipment 
when responding to 130 Liberty Street.   
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D. Investigative Findings  
 
Company Level  
 
 At the time of the fire, the aforementioned FDNY rules required companies to inspect 
buildings under construction or demolition within their administrative district at least once every 
fifteen days.  On March 20, 2007, demolition began at the Deutsche Bank building site at 130 
Liberty Street, which falls within the administrative district of Engine 10.  Members of Engine 
10 did not conduct a single inspection of the site between the time that demolition commenced 
on March 20, 2007 and the fatal fire on August 18, 2007.         
 
 At the company level, the captain (who is the company commander) and his lieutenants 
are all responsible for leading inspections within the company’s administrative district on 
scheduled inspection days.  FDNY regulations require that a company commander designate a 
single lieutenant as the company’s building inspection coordinator, who will then have primary 
responsibility to oversee building inspections and other fire prevention issues.   
 
 Prior to the spring of 2006, inspections of 130 Liberty Street were taking place on a 
periodic basis under Captain Thomas Meara, the commanding officer at that time, and his 
building inspection coordinator, Lieutenant Sean O’Malley.  Both officers left Engine 10 in the 
spring of 2006 and all inspections of the site stopped. 
 
 In December of 2006, Captain Peter Bosco was permanently assigned as the commanding 
officer of Engine 10.  At that time, there were three lieutenants assigned to Engine 10.  
Lieutenants Joseph Liselli and Frank Stonitsch had recently attained their rank and been assigned 
to Engine 10.   Lieutenant John Brukalo, on the other hand, had been in his rank at Engine 10 
since early 2002.  Under that command structure, there was no inspection activity at 130 Liberty 
Street.    
 
 Although FDNY regulations require company commanders to assign a lieutenant as the 
building inspection coordinator, Captain Bosco did not assign those duties to one of his 
lieutenants, and instead he kept the duties himself because, as he explained, he believed the fire 
prevention responsibilities were ultimately his.   
 
 Regarding the requirement that buildings under construction and demolition be inspected 
every fifteen days, Captain Bosco said that he could not remember ever conducting those types 
of inspections throughout his career, nor did he conduct them while at Engine 10 as he thought 
that it was not a “hard and fast rule.”  However, Captain Bosco admitted that he came across the 
15 Day Rule in preparation for his captain’s test.  He again encountered the requirement in June 
of 2007, when he received a copy of a memo from Deputy Chief John Bley regarding buildings 
under construction.  The memo stated that those buildings must be inspected every fifteen days 
and makes clear that the burden of inspection is on the company.  
 
 Clearly, Captain Bosco had no appreciation for his responsibilities as per 130 Liberty 
Street under the 15 Day Rule even though it was a building that was frequently brought to his 
attention.  First, it was across the street from Engine 10.  Second, there were several EMS runs at 
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the site in the months before the fire, including a run he responded to on May 9, 2007.  Third, on 
May 17, 2007, a pipe from the Deutsche Bank building fell through the roof of his firehouse 
causing considerable damage.  Fourth, Captain Bosco received a memo from Chief Norcross 
dated August 7, 2007 that reminded him to take every precaution at 130 Liberty Street.  The 
memo stated “by now all of the members of 10/10 should be aware of the problems with this 
building” and concludes with the bolded and all caps line: “THE ONLY SAFE ASSUMPTION 
IS TO ASSUME THE WORST.” 
 
 Captain Bosco remembered receiving the memo, and he testified “I read it and then, I 
mean, we were all aware the building was toxic and that’s it.  I don’t know if I told the 
lieutenants.  I must have left it on the desk.”  Less than two weeks before the fire, Captain Bosco 
missed an opportunity to discuss the site, and perhaps inspections, with the men he supervised.      
 
 Despite all of the information, warnings, and incidents relating to the site, Captain Bosco 
took no steps to familiarize himself with 130 Liberty Street.  Prior to his arrival at the company, 
a file had been created for 130 Liberty Street that it is believed contained the memos from 
Battalion Chief William Siegel that recommended, among other things, weekly surveillances at 
the site.  Captain Bosco never looked at this file.  Captain Bosco also operated on inaccurate 
information that he stated came from other members of Engine 10.  He said that upon his arrival 
to the firehouse he was told that the company did not go into 130 Liberty Street because it was 
toxic; however, he stated that he did not try to confirm that sentiment up the chain of command 
or ask for guidance.      
 
 Regarding Lieutenant Brukalo, he has been with the FDNY since 1982 and has been a 
lieutenant at Engine 10 since January 2002.  In his time at Engine 10, he has served under four 
different permanently assigned captains and alongside numerous other lieutenants.  But most 
notably, Lieutenant Brukalo worked with Captain Meara and Lieutenant O’Malley for more than 
four years; Lieutenant Brukalo is the longest serving lieutenant at Engine 10 before the fire.  
Captain Meara and Lieutenant O’Malley testified that while they were assigned to Engine 10 
they maintained a list of buildings under construction and demolition and tried to inspect them 
on a regular basis.  Lieutenant Brukalo was interviewed twice, gave inconsistent statements, 
saying at first he was familiar with the 15 Day Rule, but then ultimately said that he was not 
aware of the 15 Day Rule.  Moreover, and remarkably, he was non-committal about whether 
inspections pursuant to the 15 Day Rule were ever conducted at Engine 10.  If Lieutenant 
Brukalo is to be believed, he was completely oblivious to the longstanding system and practice 
that was in place under Captain Meara.       
 
 Unlike Lieutenants Liselli and Stonitsch, who stated that they were not aware of the 15 
Day Rule prior to the fire (even though it was in the materials that they studied to achieve their 
rank), Lieutenant Brukalo initially testified that prior to the fire, he was aware of the requirement 
that buildings under construction or demolition had to be inspected every fifteen days.  During 
his second interview, Lieutenant Brukalo gave another version of events and testified that he did 
not know the rule before the fire, and when questioned about how that could be the case given 
the lieutenant exam he took required the rules to be learned, Lieutenant Brukalo said, 
astoundingly, that he did not study the rules in the Fire Prevention Manual (which contain, 
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among safety rules, the 15 Day rule), when he studied to become a lieutenant, hoping, he said, 
that those rules would not “be on the test.”      
 
 Lieutenant Brukalo was also apparently confused about the current Building Inspection 
Coordinator assignment at Engine 10.  Indeed, it turned out to be him – which he was refreshed 
about as a result of this investigation.  Specifically, in his initial interview, Lieutenant Brukalo 
could not name who the current Building Inspection Coordinator was at Engine 10, which, of 
course, still has jurisdictional responsibility for 130 Liberty Street.  In a separate interview, 
investigators learned that, in fact, Lieutenant Brukalo was apparently the Building Inspection 
Coordinator.  In a second interview of Lieutenant Brukalo, he testified that he “forgot” that 
Captain John Donahue had made him the Building Inspection Coordinator shortly after he 
replaced Captain Bosco as the commanding officer of Engine 10 in 2007.  Lieutenant Brukalo 
said he was reminded of that assignment after he was interviewed initially.   
 
Battalion Level 
 
 Above the company level on the FDNY’s chain of command is the battalion level, which 
is led by four battalion chiefs.  Under section 7.4.4 of FDNY regulations, these battalion chiefs 
“shall supervise the inspection of buildings in their Battalion administrative districts” and they 
“shall see that all regulations or orders relative thereto are strictly enforced.”   
 
 Engine 10 falls within the administrative district of Battalion One.  At the time of the fire, 
there were three battalion chiefs working at Battalion One.  John McDonald held the rank of 
battalion chief, but he was also designated the Battalion Commander.  Battalion Chiefs Robert 
Norcross and Ronald Schmutzler were also in Battalion One at that time.  It should be noted that 
Battalion Chief Roger Sakowich had only recently left Battalion One and he was the Battalion 
Commander from 2003 until May of 2007.    
 
 As noted earlier, once demolition began at 130 Liberty Street in March 2007, Engine 10 
did not conduct a single inspection of the site pursuant to the 15 Day Rule.  The testimony of the 
witnesses from the battalion level establishes that the enforcement of the 15 Day Rule was not a 
priority for them, nor was anything done to ensure that it was followed by the companies under 
their watch.    
 
 Chief Sakowich, who had been the commanding officer in Battalion One for more than 
four years, said that he had no expectation that construction or demolition inspections were 
taking place every fifteen days.  He did say that he expected companies to “monitor” those types 
of sites as they deemed necessary, but then did nothing to verify that even that level of review 
was taking place.  Chief Norcross said that he did not enforce the 15 Day Rule because he had 
never seen it enforced in his experience.  Chief Schmutzler initially denied knowing about the 15 
Day Rule, but then said because he had studied for and passed officer exams, he must have been 
aware of it.  He said he never enforced the rule.   
 
 FDNY regulations state that all battalion chiefs have a responsibility to ensure that all 
required inspections are taking place; the regulations also call for a battalion chief to be 
specifically designated as the fire prevention liaison officer, more commonly referred to as 
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building inspection coordinator.6  There was inconsistent testimony about whom, if anyone, had 
this designation before the fire.  Chief Sakowich could not recall who held that position while he 
was the commander in Battalion One, but stated that the responsibility was shared among the 
battalion chiefs.  Chief Schmutzler thought that Chief Sakowich was his own building inspection 
coordinator (which is a violation of the rule) and he thought that Chief McDonald made Chief 
Norcross take on the role when he (McDonald) became the Battalion Commander.  Chief 
Norcross testified that he was not the inspection coordinator at the time of the fire, although 
when pressed he said that it was possible that he held that designation but he could not 
remember.  This confusion about which chief was to coordinate building inspections is indicative 
of the fact that the 15 Day Rule was not prioritized or uniformly enforced.   
 
 The Deutsche Bank building at 130 Liberty Street is within the jurisdiction of Battalion 
One and, as such, the battalion chiefs had a responsibility to supervise inspections that were 
required pursuant to FDNY regulations at that location.  But 130 Liberty Street was more than 
just another building that needed to be inspected, in fact, it was a building that the battalion 
chiefs knew had been the subject of various issues.   
 
 As to Chief Sakowich, he was the commanding officer during the period of time in early 
2005 when Chief Siegel visited and wrote about 130 Liberty Street and made detailed 
recommendations about inspecting the building.  Chief Sakowich said he never saw the Siegel 
memos that contained those recommendations at the time they were written, and he did not recall 
hearing about them.  Chief Sakowich also never saw a February 26, 2005 e-mail from Chief 
Siegel to “Division One” regarding formulating standard operating procedures (SOPs) for 130 
Liberty Street.  However, Chief Sakowich said he believed part of the Siegel recommended 
SOPs must have gone into effect because Chief Sakowich stated he went on one or two EMS 
runs at 130 Liberty Street as a battalion chief, which, he said, had to be part of a SOP.  That did 
not cause Chief Sakowich to make inquiry about whether there were any other SOPs formulated 
for 130 Liberty Street.  Once Chief Siegel left Battalion One in April 2005, it appears nothing 
further was done under Chief Sakowich’s tenure in Battalion One to enforce the 
recommendations.   

 
 Then in November of 2005, Chief Sakowich received a memo from Deputy Chief John 
Bley that stated: 
 
  In order to maintain coordination and communication between all parties   
  during the decon and demolition of 130 Liberty St, Battalion 1 shall assign a  
  BC [battalion chief] and an alternate to represent the Department at all advisory 

committee meetings.  The assigned chief is responsible to keep all levels 
of command informed of all pertinent information and all changes in demolition 
operations that affect the FDNY.  

 
Chief Sakowich made himself the alternate and assigned Chief Norcross to be the representative 
to the advisory committee meetings.  However, Chief Norcross could not recall seeing the 
November 2005 memo from Chief Bley that outlined the duties.  Further, it appears that Chief 
Sakowich did not give, nor did Chief Norcross ask for, an explanation of what the liaison job 
                                                 
6 See Section 7.1.1 of FDNY’s regulations (copy attached hereto). 
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entailed since after attending a few meetings, Chief Norcross said his job as point person was 
over.  
 
 On April 8, 2007, Lieutenant Liselli from Engine 10 emailed Chief Sakowich about an 
incident at a fire at 101 Warren Street that prompted him (Liselli) to ask whether he should take 
members of Engine 10 to construction sites to familiarize them with new construction.   
Lieutenant Liselli concluded his email by asking for some direction.  He does not remember 
receiving a reply email, nor does Chief Sakowich remember reading the original email.  No 
direction was given to Lieutenant Liselli regarding those building inspections.    
 
 Likewise, Chief Norcross had dealings with 130 Liberty Street.  On August 7, 2007, he 
wrote a memo after he learned that members of Engine 10 responded to an emergency run at 130 
Liberty Street and believed they had been exposed to toxic materials.  He instructed in that 
memo that all safety precautions should be observed when responding to 130 Liberty Street, but 
did not direct that inspections be completed as per the 15 Day Rule.   
 
Division Level  
 
 Above the battalion level on the FDNY’s chain of command is the division level, which 
is led by four deputy chiefs, one of whom is designated division commander.  Under Title 3, 
section 11-01(a) of the Rules of the City of New York, "Deputy Chiefs shall cause continued 
inspections of buildings in the course of construction and demolition at least every fifteen (15) 
days, but more often where conditions dictate."  This rule is also reproduced in the FDNY’s Fire 
Prevention Manual.  As such, deputy chiefs are the highest ranking officers who have an 
affirmative duty to ensure that the rule is being enforced.   
 

Battalion One reports to Division One.  At the time of the fire, there were four deputy 
chiefs working in Division One.  Deputy Chief Richard Fuerch was the designated Division One 
Commander and held that position from March 2004 until shortly after the Deustche Bank fire.  
Deputy Chief John Bley has been in Division One since 2002 and Deputy Chief Paul Cresci has 
been in Division One since 2004.  Deputy Chief Michael McPartland is a covering deputy chief 
and has been assigned to Division One since January 2007.7 
 
 Deputy Chief Fuerch testified that he was aware of the 15 Day Rule but he never 
enforced it.  Despite the fact that the rule falls squarely on deputy chiefs, he said the reason he 
never enforced it is that he had never seen it enforced in his career and that there was no practice 
or procedure in the FDNY to do so.  Nevertheless, in June 2007, after discussions with Deputy 
Chief Bley regarding the noticeable increase in certain buildings under construction within 
Division One, Deputy Chief Fuerch authorized the use of light-duty personnel for inspections of 
buildings under construction.  Based on these discussions, Deputy Chief Bley sent a memo to the 
battalions in Division One, stating in relevant part: 
 

Buildings under construction are required to be inspected once every 15 days by the 
administrative company.  The 1st Division has received permission to allow our light duty 

                                                 
7  As a covering chief, he is not permanently assigned to the Division and may at times work at other commands 
throughout New York City.   
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personnel to perform building inspections.  Our plan is to use light duty firefighters to 
relieve the administrative Units (sic) of the burden of inspecting buildings under 
construction.   

 
Deputy Chief Fuerch acknowledged that before the Deputy Chief Bley’s memo was issued, 
buildings undergoing construction and demolition were not inspected frequently, if at all.  This 
memo did not, however, address buildings under demolition.  Deputy Chief Fuerch stated that at 
the time his focus was buildings under construction and that demolition was an “afterthought.”  
Unfortunately, this effort to use light-duty personnel did not last that long as light-duty personnel 
in Division One either returned to full duty or retired shortly after implementation of the plan.  
No additional steps were taken in Division One to address the issue of construction or demolition 
inspections before the fire.   
 
 Coming up through the ranks, Deputy Chief Fuerch served as building inspection 
coordinator as a lieutenant, captain, battalion chief and deputy chief.  He was also familiar with 
FDNY Regulation 6.1.1, which states that “A Deputy Chief, other than the Division Commander, 
shall be designated as the Fire Prevention Liaison Officer by the Division Commander, subject to 
the approval of the Chief of Department.”  Deputy Chief Fuerch stated that as Division 
Commander he had appointed Deputy Chief John Bley as Division One building inspection 
coordinator, but did not seek Chief of Department approval because this was “virtually never 
done in the Fire Department.”  He was also familiar with FDNY Regulation 7.1.1, which states 
that “A battalion chief other than the battalion commander shall be designated as fire prevention 
liaison officer by the division commander, subject to the approval of the Chief of Department.”  
Deputy Chief Fuerch stated that as Division Commander, he did not designate building 
inspection coordinators at the battalion level because they were “already in place.”  He could not 
recall, however, who was designated building inspection coordinator for Battalion One pre-fire. 
 
 Regarding 130 Liberty Street, Deputy Chief Fuerch had specific knowledge about the 
status of the building as far back as 2004.  In December 2004, Captain Thomas Engel, who was 
the commanding officer for Ladder 10, wrote a memo to Deputy Chief Fuerch advising him that 
there had been three responses to 130 Liberty Street by Engine 10 and Ladder 10.  The memo 
goes on to request that a SOP be developed for the site.  This memo appears to have played a 
role in Deputy Chief Fuerch’s directive to former Battalion Chief William Siegel in January 
2005 to look at 130 Liberty Street.  Chief Siegel visited the location and wrote a comprehensive 
memo on the conditions there and provided recommendations, including a recommendation that 
the company responsible for 130 Liberty Street conduct weekly surveillances of the building.  
Chief Siegel updated his findings twice after making additional visits to the site and then left the 
battalion in April 2005.  Deputy Chief Fuerch testified that he examined and approved Chief 
Siegel’s memo in January 2005, but he believed weekly surveillances were only required after 
demolition began.  He further testified that he was unaware that demolition began in March 
2007.  Deputy Chief Fuerch was aware, though, of several EMS responses to 130 Liberty Street 
between March 2007 and the day of the fire, as well as the pipe from 130 Liberty Street that fell 
through the firehouse.  None of those events, however, prompted Deputy Chief Fuerch to inquire 
further about the status of the building and whether surveillance inspections were taking place.   
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 Deputy Chief John Bley testified that he had been designated as the Building Inspection 
Coordinator for Division One.  He stated that he was aware of the 15 Day Rule, but he did not 
think that he ever enforced the rule as an officer based on a lack of resources.  He acknowledged 
sending out a memo in June 2007 regarding the use of light-duty personnel to conduct 
inspections of buildings under construction every fifteen days after discussing the issue with 
Deputy Chief Fuerch.  He stated that it was not a conscious decision on his part to exclude 
buildings under demolition, but his focus was on buildings under construction and he drafted the 
reference to the 15 Day Rule from memory, without reviewing the language of the rule.  
Regarding 130 Liberty Street, he testified that after Chief Siegel left Battalion One, no one from 
Division One followed up on Chief Siegel’s recommendations and that it was Deputy Chief 
Bley’s responsibility as building inspection coordinator to do so.   
 
 Deputy Chief Cresci said that he knew about the rule, but he did not believe that it was 
being enforced nor did he remember conducting those types of inspections as either a lieutenant 
or as a captain.  He did, however, acknowledge that under the rules it was his responsibility as a 
Deputy Chief to enforce it.  Regarding 130 Liberty Street, Deputy Chief Cresci went into the 
building on the day the pipe fell in May 2007 and attended two follow-up meetings regarding 
repairs to the firehouse at the request of Manhattan Borough Commander Michael Weinlein, who 
had asked Deputy Chief Cresci to investigate the pipe accident and take any necessary steps to 
prevent a similar accident from happening again at the site.  Deputy Chief Cresci stated it did not 
occur to him at that time to send the company into 130 Liberty Street for an inspection, and he 
made no inquiry about the inspection history of the building.   

 
Deputy Chief McPartland said that he was not aware of the 15 Day Rule before the 

August 2007 fire.  He took four fire officer exams over the years to reach his rank as Deputy 
Chief, and having reached that rank of Deputy Chief, he is named in a rule as the officer who 
must ensure that the 15 Day Rule is enforced.   Remarkably, he did not know that.  Part of his job 
as Deputy Chief was to check on the inspections being done by companies in the field, answer 
questions and give guidance on same.  He did so not having familiarized himself, he concedes, 
with all of the rules.  He asserted that the issue of necessary inspections of buildings under 
construction and demolition never came up during his career in the FDNY.   
 
Manhattan Borough Command  
 

The current Manhattan Borough Commander, Assistant Chief Michael Weinlein, has 
been assigned to his position since July of 2006.  At the time of the fire, the Manhattan Borough 
Command was staffed by Chief Weinlein and two battalion chiefs.  The Manhattan Borough 
Command is the highest ranking officer in the borough and supervises all the divisions, 
battalions and companies in Manhattan. 
    

Chief Weinlein stated that he knew of the 15 Day Rule from his studying for promotional 
exams. Chief Weinlein also stated that due to the size of some of the administrative areas he 
supervised, he expected that companies would prioritize inspection activities, and that the 
prioritization would vary by company and battalion.  Chief Weinlein believed that companies 
would inspect these buildings when they could, and the regularity of these inspections would be 
guided by the other inspection priorities designated by the unit.  He did not believe every 
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company under his command was inspecting, or could inspect, every building under construction 
every fifteen days.  Rather, he expected that each company would have some system in place to 
monitor these buildings. 

 
While charged with the supervision of the companies, battalions and divisions within the 

borough of Manhattan, as Borough Commander, Chief Weinlein was not tasked with any 
specific building inspection oversight.  In fact, before the fire, there were no reports or tracking 
mechanism for construction and deconstruction inspections, and the inspections reports that did 
exist at the time were not given to the Borough Commands; they were sent directly from the 
division commands to FDNY Headquarters where the reports were compiled for statistical 
purposes.   

 
Prior to the fire, Chief Weinlein, with the assistance of the various chiefs in the borough, 

was in the process of creating a strategic plan for Manhattan.  Although it did not make it into the 
final plan, part of the strategic plan discussions included a recommendation to revise the 
FDNY’s Fire Prevention Manual to make building inspection requirements, including the 15 Day 
Rule, more realistic and attainable.  That objective within the plan was assigned to Chief Fuerch, 
indicating that he was part of discussions about the problems with the rule.  As further evidence 
that Chief Weinlein thought the building inspection requirements were too onerous, in May of 
2007 when he was approached about commands having a difficulty with their inspections, he 
gave authorization to the divisions in Manhattan to utilize light duty members to help with 
building inspections.   

 
While Chief Weinlein has a great many buildings under his jurisdiction, he was aware of 

specific issues at 130 Liberty Street before the fire.  He knew about the search for possible 
human remains from the September 11, 2001 attacks.  He said that the first time 130 Liberty 
Street became a concern for him was following the construction accident on May 17, 2007 when 
a pipe from the site fell through the roof of the 10/10 Firehouse.  Chief Weinlein related that 
Deputy Chief Cresci from Division One notified him of the accident that day and he headed to 
the firehouse to check on the condition of the firefighters.   

 
Chief Weinlein visited the 10/10 Firehouse twice on May 17, 2007, but he focused only 

on how the accident happened, how to avoid a similar occurrence in the future, and what needed 
to be done to fix and protect the firehouse.  Unfortunately, he did not use this opportunity to ask 
whether the building was being inspected.   
 
Executive Level  
 
 Commissioner Nicholas Scoppetta, First Deputy Commissioner Frank Cruthers, Chief of 
Department Salvatore Cassano, and Chief of Operations Patrick McNally were all interviewed 
during this investigation, and each discussed the importance of building inspections.  Chief 
Cassano stressed that inspections are critical because “the more familiar you were with the 
building, the better chance you had of surviving in a fire.” 
 
 After the fire, Commissioner Scoppetta stated there was a thorough review of inspection 
activity, the inspection process and accountability.  He recounted that many things were done 
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after the fire and it was at that point that he became heavily involved with inspections.  
Commissioner Scoppetta testified that he has approved changing the reporting requirements (by 
the administrative captain performing building inspections) to include the Borough Commander.  
This decision was made in part because he meets with staff chiefs, including Borough 
Commanders at bi-weekly meetings.  He stated the FDNY has created a special unit of twenty 
civilian inspectors with five supervisors.  He stated the FDNY now has a contract with IBM that 
includes the development of a program implementing accountability measures, such as pop-up 
screens (FDNY implemented automated pop-up inspection reminders for all fire companies in 
Fall 2007) on firehouse computers delineating buildings to be inspected in that jurisdiction, when 
the last inspection was done and the deadline for the next inspection.  As part of the 
implementation of the recommendations made through the administration’s review of 
construction, demolition and abatement work, additional measures have been taken, including a 
requirement that following an inspection, local companies indicate whether a site that has been 
inspected requires modifications to the Computer Information Dispatch System (CIDS). These 
are all significant, positive steps. 
 
 However, these important changes and new tools must be accompanied by what has been 
missing at each and every level within the chain of command -- ensuring that the tools are being 
used and the rules are being followed.  The building inspection coordinators play an important 
part in enforcing the rules.  In fact, First Deputy Commissioner Cruthers testified that assigning 
building inspection coordinators is part of the foundation of the FDNY and he could not 
“fathom” how that position would not be filled.     
 
 Existing FDNY rules already require that officers fill these positions at the company, 
battalion and division level.  Further, the rules anticipate how important these roles are at the two 
higher levels by building in a requirement that the Chief of Department approves those officers 
who have been designated.   
 
 And yet, throughout this investigation there were numerous times when officers were 
unclear as to who held that position or what the responsibilities entailed.   Chief Cassano stated 
that those approvals do not come up to his level in the Department, whether in an official form, 
via email, or verbally.   
 
E. Investigative Conclusions and General Impressions 
 

• This is a case of missed opportunities:  stemming from a series of incidents at this 
building, right next to a firehouse, that did not prompt anyone to undertake any inspection 
in 2007 despite a rule that required it, many went into the building - to assist workers 
injured, to look for human remains, to address a pipe that fell - but everyone had tunnel 
vision.   

 
• The investigation revealed a culture of widespread disregard for the 15 Day Rule.  

 
o Yet, most of the fifty firefighters and officers interviewed were aware of the 15 

Day Rule.  
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• If it is true that you manage what you measure, then the FDNY was not prioritizing the 
inspection of construction/demolition sites (i.e., almost every witness said that he felt that 
occupied A and E buildings were the most important – the buildings on which companies 
are asked to report).8 

 
• How to conduct a building inspection is primarily learned on the job and varies greatly 

depending on the commanding officer.  
 

o Where firefighters were assigned and who their officers were appears to make a 
difference in knowledgeable enforcement and attention to the rules. 

 
• This investigation showed the “shift chart” and “mutual policy,” by which officers work 

on average eight 24-hour shifts each month, affected consistency and continuity in 
communication that created gaps in the supervision of daily administrative duties such as 
inspections.  

 
• The investigation revealed that the building inspection coordinator position is a 

designation too often without significance.  FDNY rules contemplate the importance of 
this position by placing the final approval for the battalion and division building 
inspection coordinators with the Chief of Department.  But we learned that this approval 
does not happen.  And, at times, no building inspection coordinator is even formally 
designated.  

 
o An often expressed sentiment was there are too many rules to follow all of them, 

leaving an officer to do the best he can to set priorities.  This is why having  
building inspection coordinators is so important, because they are the people who 
should create a plan for all inspections and elevate any issues pertaining to 
inspections up the chain of command.   

 
• Some have argued that nobody was following the 15 Day Rule.  However, we found 

examples of officers who were making a good faith effort to follow the rule.  
Specifically, Captain Meara and Lieutenant O’Malley at Engine 10 attempted to follow 
the rule before they left Engine 10 in 2006. 

 
• Companies were doing six hours of scheduled building inspections each week before the 

fire – the requirement was increased to nine hours per week after the fire.  But several 
witnesses (e.g., Weinlein and Brukalo) said that nine hours scheduled does not mean nine 
hours completed because they may still be interrupted by runs just as they were during 
the six hours allotted. 

 

                                                 
8  In the Fire Prevention Manual buildings classified in category A that must be inspected annually include high-
occupancy buildings such as schools, hotels, hospitals, underground transit facilities, hazardous factories and 
warehouses, homeless shelters, and large retail stores.  Buildings designated B trough E are other types of buildings 
that are inspected variously every two to five years. 
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• Sometimes memos are disseminated to a division, a rank, a company – not to a particular, 
identified person; sometimes the person in the division, rank, company is only there an 
estimated eight days per month. 

 

• The executive team understood the importance construction and demolition inspections 
played in ensuring a firefighter's ability to adequately respond to, attack and survive a fire 
and relied on the lower ranks to carry out the FDNY rules and regulations covering this 
issue. While the FDNY regulation squarely places the responsibility of enforcing the 15 
Day Rule on the deputy chiefs, we found that the executive team was unaware of, or did 
not address noncompliance with, the 15 Day Rule, and that no one appeared to 
communicate to the executive level that there were problems carrying out the rule. The 
lack of communication up and down the chain of command meant that the importance of 
compliance with the 15 Day Rule was not communicated and reinforced to the lower 
ranks.  

 
F. Policy and Procedure Recommendations  
 

1. Currently, battalion and division chiefs are required to work two day shifts and 
two night shifts every week.  In practice, chiefs can arrange to work back-to-back 
day and evening shifts, thereby being present two 24-hour shifts each week, or 
approximately eight shifts per month. This practice exists under a collective 
bargaining agreement. This investigation showed that this type of consolidated 
schedule can significantly hinder the supervision of lower ranking officers in 
some respects including the proper, complete and consistent administration of 
duties, and so there should be discussion on how chiefs can provide more 
graduated supervision and follow-up.  

 
2. Currently, when an officer leaves a post, the FDNY does not arrange for a formal 

transition period for the incoming officer.  A reasonable transition period would 
give a new supervising officer the time to ask questions and learn about unique 
problems or operational challenges at his new assignment.  This investigation 
found that the positive practices put in place by Captain Meara and Lieutenant 
O’Malley, including inspections at buildings under construction and at 130 
Liberty Street, were not passed on to their successors, a series of covering 
personnel and ultimately Captain Bosco who was assigned to Engine 10 in 
December 2006.   Moreover, as noted, the one lieutenant consistently in place 
under Captain Meara and through to Captain Bosco was Lieutenant Brukalo, who 
unfortunately, was not helpful in this regard.9  

 
3. After the Deutsche Bank fire, the FDNY changed the building inspection 

regulation requiring each company to spend nine hours per week on all building 
inspections; before the fatal fire the rule had required six hours.  While adding 
three hours of inspection time is a positive step, it does not address the problem of 
too much lost inspection time.  Despite this change, companies continue to be 

                                                 
9 Indeed, as this report indicated, Lieutenant Brukalo did not even know that he was the Building Inspector 
Coordinator. 
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pulled away from inspections to respond to runs, as they must, but they do not 
make up the scheduled inspection time that was lost.  So if the six, (now nine), 
hours are often lost, in whole or in part during any given week to runs and 
emergencies, the companies still do not, even since 130 Liberty’s fatal fire, have 
to make up those hours doing inspections.  In addition, the FDNY regulations 
dictate when, and only when, inspections can take place.  Thus, there could be 
times during the week when the company could conduct inspections when not 
occupied by runs, but the regulations constrain the company from conducting 
inspections outside those set hours.  Other conditions, such as weather, also limit 
when inspections can take place.  The collective bargaining agreement limits the 
weather conditions under which inspections may occur.  Many witnesses told us 
that the six hours and the nine hours of inspections in any given week are still so 
often interrupted.  We recommend that these inspections for nine hours 
definitively take place by appropriate management of the company’s time in 
conjunction with a revising of the regulation to provide the greatest flexibility as 
to when the inspections can take place.  In sum, for safety purposes, the regulation 
should require nine hours of completed inspections, not merely nine hours of 
scheduled inspection time.   

 
4. The officers interviewed testified that chiefs within the battalion and division do 

not have regular meetings on such issues as inspections, training, and 
administrative matters.  For example, the officers from the division and battalion 
indicated they did not meet regularly to discuss their collective duties. 
Accordingly, witnesses could not speak to what their colleagues in the division or 
battalion were doing in certain areas such as inspections, training and 
administrative matters.  As managers, adjustments to schedules should be made 
for them to meet more frequently than appears to currently be the case, to address 
operations and concerns.  

 
5. The FDNY should have training for all building inspector coordinators to review 

the inspection rules and their responsibilities.  Chief Cassano testified that the 
FDNY has created training for building inspector coordinators and that training is 
being implemented citywide.    

 
6. One finding of this investigation was that the presence of multiple disciplines at 

the site – all with jurisdiction but with differing levels of access and roles - 
contributed to the tunnel vision, with none seeing the larger picture.  So to the 
extent possible, certainly as it relates to the City agencies, due to the overlapping 
issues that the various agencies encounter, we recommend cross-training for the 
FDNY on the relevant parts of the DOB code; and for buildings inspectors cross-
training on the relevant parts of the fire code.10

  

                                                 
10 In July 2008, the Mayor’s Office issued a report entitled “Strengthening the Safety, Oversight and Coordination of 
Construction, Demolition and Abatement Operations.”  That report included recommendations about training and 
information sharing that the FDNY has already implemented.   For example, upon promotion, FDNY lieutenants 
now receive training in building and fire codes, and the Construction, Demolition and/or Abatement inspectional 
force that the FDNY created receive building code training.  Also, the FDNY and DOB share information and 
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7. Designate a FDNY Compliance Officer reporting to the executive level who will 

ensure that operationally all rules are enforced including inspections.  The 
remarkable complaint from so many officers that there are too many rules and 
regulations, some difficult to carry out, leads to the suggestion that the 
Compliance Officer also be tasked with analyzing rules and regulations to ensure 
they are reasonable and practical.  Members throughout the Department should be 
told that they can and must contact the Compliance Officer when they know a rule 
is not being consistently carried out.  In this investigation, witnesses stated they 
knew rules were not being enforced consistently, but did not feel an obligation to 
do anything about it because a supervisor was in place to do that, or could not say 
anything about such a situation beyond an immediate supervisor. Reporting 
problems and issues to an immediate supervisor should be the first step, but 
everyone should be told that a Compliance Officer is present for such issues.  
Everyone should exercise common sense about making these issues known.    

 
8. The FDNY has made key changes to address the monitoring of inspections. The 

Borough Commander is now notified of who is performing building inspections, 
which will mean the executive team will have direct access to that information at 
its bi-weekly meetings; and the FDNY has established a computer notification 
system that will alert firehouses of buildings (including buildings under 
construction and demolition) that must be inspected. The FDNY has also 
embarked on a multi-year initiative to change its building safety inspection 
program that, when completed, will enable the FDNY to prioritize and ensure 
compliance with building safety inspections based on real-time data from multiple 
sources. And, in 2008, the FDNY implemented a Performance Safety and 
Accountability program, which includes accountability sessions covering key 
measures.  These are good changes, more can be done. The FDNY executive team 
must inquire about and identify (and look to its staff to identify) hot-button 
concerns, such as widespread issues with required inspections, so they can be 
adequately addressed proactively or in real-time with actions such as better 
monitoring, policy changes or reach-outs from the executive team to the lower 
ranks. In short, there needs to be more fluid communication between the 
executives and the other FDNY ranks, particularly on issues such as 
noncompliance with important rules. In reflecting on how many officers and 
executives interviewed assumed proper inspections were being carried out, calls 
to mind the saying trust but verify. These are the sorts of issues that are 
sometimes identified at compstat-type programs that many City agencies conduct.  

 
 

                                                                                                                                                             
digital photos of most serious fire and building code violations and perform timely joint inspections.  Starting in July 
2009, the FDNY reports that all personnel will be trained in building inspection safety procedures, which include 
both fire and building code provisions.    
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9. The Chief of Department should delegate in writing who is to approve in each 
borough the “fire prevention liaison” officer (i.e., the building inspector 
coordinator) in each division and battalion pursuant to rules 6.1.1 and 7.1.1.  

   
 
 In the wake of the fatal fire, the Mayor’s Office convened a Task Force to review safety, 
oversight and coordination of construction, demolition and abatement operations in the City.  
Last year, that Task Force issued more than thirty recommendations designed to strengthen City 
agencies’ practices and procedures in this area, with a particular focus on sharing information 
among the agencies that oversee and inspect such operations.  Many of these recommendations 
have been implemented, including cross-training of FDNY, DOB and New York City 
Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) inspectors in a common set of safety protocols, 
regular inter-agency sharing of information about construction and demolition permit issuance 
and high-risk abatement jobs, and overhauling the process for the FDNY to refer dangerous 
conditions to DOB.  A key recommendation was to develop a computer-based system to share 
inspection data and create common inspection protocols among FDNY, DOB and DEP.  
Implementation is already under way, and once complete, the FDNY will have a much more 
refined ability to conduct inspections on the basis of which sites pose the greatest safety risks. 
 
 The fire at 130 Liberty Street resulted in the tragic loss of Firefighters Joseph 
Graffagnino and Robert Beddia.  Based on this investigation, it is anticipated that certain 
individuals within the Department will be the subject of disciplinary action.  Indeed, the 
investigation established an unacceptable lack of emphasis on required inspections in lower 
Manhattan, and elsewhere in commands throughout the Department.   Commissioner Scoppetta 
has sought to address this issue over the past two years.  We cannot know what the required 
inspections at the site would have revealed.  This investigation did establish how important they 
are to fire and safety operations.   
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IV. Administrative Investigation Regarding the Department of Buildings 
 
 In the aftermath of the August 18, 2007 fire at 130 Liberty Street, there were indications 
that the New York City Department of Buildings (“DOB”) Lower Manhattan Construction 
Command Center (“LMCCC”) Task Force inspectors, charged with carrying out daily 
inspections at the site, lacked the training, inter-agency coordination, and supervision to properly 
ensure these inspections were taking place.  
 

A. The Building Code of the City of New York  
 
 DOB is charged with ensuring the safe and lawful use of buildings and properties by 
enforcing the Building Code of the City of New York (“Building Code”). In turn, DOB 
inspectors are responsible for enforcing the Building Code and ensuring that contractors are in 
compliance with the provisions of the Building Code. 
 
 Prior to the August 18, 2007 fire, the 1968 Building Code of the City of New York was in 
effect. The relevant 1968 Building Code subchapters pertaining to this investigation (see 
attached) can be found in: 
 

• Title 27, Subchapter 17, entitled Fire Alarm Detection and Extinguishing Equipment, 
Article 3, Standpipe Requirements; 

 
• Title 27, Subchapter 19, entitled Safety of Public and Property during Construction 

Operations; and 
 

• Title 27, Subchapter 6, entitled Means of Egress: 
 

o Article 1 General 
o Article 2 Determination of exit requirements 
o Article 3 Location of exits 
o Article 4 Number of exits 
o Article 5 Access requirements and exit types 
o Article 6 Exit lighting 
o Article 7 Exit signs 
o Article 8 Exit signs for existing buildings 
o Article 9 Stair and elevator signs  
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B. Chain of Command Chart as of August 2007  
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C. Timeline and Relevant Documents 
 

• Fall 2006 - Manhattan Borough Commissioner Christopher Santulli instructs Manhattan 
Borough Inspection Manager Thomas Connors  to put together an inspection unit for the 
DOB LMCCC Task Force. 

 
  According to the New York County District Attorney’s report, in or about the fall of 
 2006, a 42-foot breach of the standpipe in the basement occurred. 

 
• February 2007 - The DOB LMCCC Task Force moves into its office at 1 Liberty Plaza, 

Manhattan, NY.  
 

• March 2007 - DOB LMCCC Task Force begins inspections at 130 Liberty Street, 
Manhattan, NY. 

 
• May 2007 - Robert Iulo is named the DOB LMCCC Task Force Executive Director. 

According to the DOB, Iulo continues to also oversee Safety and Emergency Operations 
which includes the Buildings Enforcement Safety Team (B.E.S.T.).   

 
• May 17, 2007 - A pipe from 130 Liberty Street falls through the roof of the Engine 

10/Ladder 10 Firehouse. DOB issues violations to Bovis Lend Lease and John Galt each 
for: 1) failure to safeguard public and property affected by construction operations, and 2) 
failure to carry out demolition in a safe and proper manner.  

 
• June 7, 2007 - E-mail correspondence between Connors and DOB LMCCC Inspector 

Aaron Williamson establishing the protocol for issuing violations at 130 Liberty Street.  
 

• June 25, 2007 - DOB LMCCC Inspector Williamson observes Standpipe “A” capped on 
the 28th floor instead of being capped at the 31st floor and Standpipe “A” also had a plank 
of wood lying through it. Williamson reported the incident to Bovis Lend Lease, URS 
and DOB LMCCC Executive Director Robert Iulo. Iulo instructs Williamson to give 
Bovis two hours to cure the standpipe condition and instructs Williamson not to include 
the standpipe incident in his June 25, 2007 Special Report.  

 
• August 18, 2007 - A discarded cigarette on the 17th floor of 130 Liberty Street causes a 

massive fire, killing Firefighters Robert Beddia and Joseph Graffagnino and injuring over 
100 other firefighters.  
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D. Investigative Findings 
 
 130 Liberty Street was a unique exception to the standard demolition process. Typically, 
a building that is to be demolished must first undergo any necessary abatement.  Once abatement 
is fully completed, the demolition process begins. With regard to 130 Liberty Street, beginning 
in March 2007, concurrent demolition and abatement activity was taking place, with a four-floor 
buffer zone between the demolition floor and the abatement floors. The buffer floors consisted of 
those floors that had already undergone abatement and were considered “clean” as determined by 
the relevant oversight environmental agencies, including the United States Environmental 
Protection Agency, the New York State Department of Labor, and/or the New York City 
Department of Environmental Protection. The purpose of the buffer zone was to protect the 
abatement workers from falling demolition debris. 
 
 The DOB created the DOB LMCCC Task Force in or about February 2007 with the 
purpose of conducting building inspections in Manhattan, south of Canal Street.11  DOB 
LMCCC Task Force was responsible for conducting inspections at 130 Liberty Street. Unlike 
other building inspections, a DOB LMCCC Task Force inspector was stationed at 130 Liberty 
Street on a full-time basis. 
 
 Manhattan Inspection Manager Thomas Connors testified that towards the end of 2006, 
Manhattan Borough Commissioner Christopher Santulli instructed Connors to develop and staff 
an inspection unit for the DOB LMCCC Task Force. Connors stated that he posted a job flyer 
and eventually selected DOB inspectors Aaron Williamson, Edwin Quinland, Simone 
Bridgeforth, and Satish Patel. 
 
 Connors further testified that from February 2007 until about June 2007, he was 
unofficially overseeing the DOB LMCCC Task Force inspection unit. Connors said that in or 
around April or May 2007, Assistant Commissioner Robert Iulo was named Executive Director 
of DOB’s LMCCC Task Force. 
 
Training 
 
 Given that DOB LMCCC was established to handle construction inspections in Lower 
Manhattan, Connors testified that in hiring the DOB LMCCC inspectors he was looking for 
construction inspectors with a minimum of five years of construction experience, which is the 
minimum experience requirement to be hired by the DOB as a construction inspector. They did 
have that construction experience, however, as each of the DOB LMCCC inspectors testified, 
and as Connors acknowledged, each of the inspectors had varying degrees of experience with 
construction inspections, and none of the DOB LMCCC inspectors had any experience on site 
safety/demolition projects.   
 
 In particular, DOB LMCCC Inspector Bridgeforth testified that she was not really trained 
about the standpipe system and that she did not understand how the standpipe system worked. 
She further testified that she did not trace the standpipe in the basement and that after the fire, 
                                                 
11 Connors as well as the DOB LMCCC inspectors testified that they did not conduct certificate of occupancy or 
public assembly inspections. These types of inspections were conducted by the borough inspectors. 
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when a plumbing inspector showed her the missing section of the standpipe, she said that she did 
not know what she was looking at and except for being told it was the standpipe she might have 
thought it was a gas line.    
 
 Connors as well as the DOB LMCCC inspectors testified that a training program was 
initially set up between the DOB LMCCC and the DOB’s Buildings Enforcement Safety Team 
(“B.E.S.T.”) Squad12 whereby the B.E.S.T. Squad would train the DOB LMCCC inspectors on 
site safety projects below Canal Street.  The arrangement was supposed to be that each DOB 
LMCCC inspector would shadow a B.E.S.T. inspector for a two-week period whenever a 
B.E.S.T. inspector had to conduct a site safety inspection below Canal Street. However, the DOB 
LMCCC inspectors testified that they did not spend a full two weeks with a B.E.S.T. inspector. 
 
 B.E.S.T. inspectors, who are responsible for inspecting site safety and demolition projects 
and who reported to Andrey Vishev, who reported to Iulo, were periodically performing site 
safety inspections at 130 Liberty Street. Thus, Connors testified, another component of the 
training program for the DOB LMCCC inspectors was supposed to be that B.E.S.T. inspectors 
would contact them when B.E.S.T. arrived at 130 Liberty Street.  B.E.S.T. inspectors were then 
supposed to conduct their site inspection jointly with DOB LMCCC for instructional purposes.  
However, Connors sent an e-mail to then Chief of B.E.S.T., Vishev, stating that he was told that 
the B.E.S.T. inspectors were not contacting the DOB LMCCC inspectors upon arriving at 130 
Liberty Street. Vishev responded to Connor’s e-mail stating that DOB LMCCC inspectors 
should be able to conduct independent inspections on their own without B.E.S.T. since they were 
stationed at the site full-time.  Connors further testified that he had a conversation with then-
Manhattan Borough Commissioner Christopher Santulli about this matter. Santulli testified that 
he called a meeting with Connors, Iulo, and Vishev to discuss the procedure and reaffirmed that 
when B.E.S.T. arrived at the site they were to notify the DOB LMCCC inspector and conduct a 
joint inspection.  Santulli said that it was not until after the fire that he learned that this procedure 
had not been followed by B.E.S.T. inspectors who were managed by Vishev and Iulo. 
(According to DOB, prior to August 2007 Iulo had oversight of DOB LMCCC and B.E.S.T. )  
  
 Although Connors was aware that none of the DOB LMCCC inspectors had any 
experience on site safety/demolition projects, Connors testified that as the DOB LMCCC 
inspectors embarked on their assignment, he did not provide them with any type of formal 
training on the relevant sections of the Building Code pertaining to those areas. (According to the 
DOB, such training should have been provided by Vishev as Chief of B.E.S.T.)  Moreover, 
Connors said that he did not discuss the status of the demolition at 130 Liberty Street with the 
DOB LMCCC inspectors, and that he never told the DOB LMCCC inspectors specifically what 
to inspect at the site.  Similarly, the DOB LMCCC inspectors testified that they were never given 
any site specific training. 
 
DOB LMCCC Inspections 
 
 The DOB LMCCC inspectors, as well as Connors, Iulo, and Santulli testified that it was 
DOB policy that DOB inspectors were not permitted to enter or inspect the areas undergoing 
abatement. The DOB LMCCC inspectors further testified that because they could not enter the 
                                                 
12 B.E.S.T. is a specialized unit within DOB that is responsible for conducting site safety and demolition inspections. 
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abatement areas, which encompassed the stairwells and parts of the basement, they were unable 
to fully trace the standpipe. Moreover, they testified that they were never really clear on which 
areas of the basement were clean versus contaminated, and that they could not check the 
standpipe in the areas of the basement that were contaminated.  So they just stayed away from 
areas of  the basement that they perceived were contaminated. 
 
 The DOB LMCCC inspectors further testified that they never inspected the “kick-out” 
panels, which were planks of wood covered in polyethylene sheeting that served as containment 
barriers located in the stairwells separating the buffer floor from the abatement floor.  The 
witnesses testified that they were told not to go onto the abatement floors.  The visual vantage 
point the DOB LMCCC inspectors had of the kick out panels was from the buffer floor above.  
The DOB LMCCC inspectors saw but did not inspect the kick-out panels because it was their 
understanding that these kick-out panels were designed and approved by the New York City 
Department of Environmental Protection and were, therefore, as Santulli stated, not under their 
jurisdiction to inspect.    
 
Supervision/Direction 
 
 DOB LMCCC inspectors testified that Connors had told each of them that their job 
responsibility was to monitor the deconstruction process at 130 Liberty Street on the demolition 
floors and that they were not to enter the abatement floors. 
 
 DOB LMCCC inspectors testified that they were never provided with a checklist or any 
specific instructions as to what to inspect. They further testified that they were never specifically 
told to check the standpipe, means of egress, nor were they specifically instructed to check the 
site safety log.  While they were not specifically instructed to check the stand pipe, DOB 
LMCCC inspectors testified that they did conduct a visual inspection of the standpipe. This 
visual inspection included checking that the standpipe was capped one floor below the 
demolition floor, that the Siamese connection outside the building on street level was not 
blocked by anything, and that the required red light signifying the location of the Siamese 
connection was functioning.  The light is in place so that firefighters can locate the Siamese 
connection and not have to circle a location looking for it.      
 
 Since a DOB LMCCC inspector was assigned to 130 Liberty Street full-time, according 
to the witnesses, a protocol was established by Connors which required inspectors to make 
certain notifications before issuing a violation.  An e-mail dated June 7, 2007 from Connors to 
the DOB LMCCC inspectors and Iulo, who at that time became the DOB LMCCC Executive 
Director, explained to inspectors: 

 
 The protocol that was set up over a month ago for 130 Liberty, was: 
 
 1) Notify both the URS & Bovis site safety person of the issue, and  
 advise of needed correction.   
 
 2) At the time, you were then to notify me. Now that Robert [Iulo] 
  is on board, notification should go to him. An agreed upon time for 
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  correction will be determined.  
 
 3) If after an agreed upon time has elapsed and correction has not  
 happened, upon notification to Robert [Iulo]or me, the violation  
 will be issued.  

 
 As Manhattan Inspection Manager, Connors testified that he spent part of his time 
involved with the DOB LMCCC Task Force up until June 2007. During that period, Connors 
said that he spent three to three and a half hours at the DOB LMCCC office. Since he was not 
there on a full-time basis, he created a system whereby the DOB LMCCC inspectors would 
submit daily “Special Reports” that documented the various activities for the day including 
photographs.  Connors reviewed those Special Reports, as did Iulo when he became Executive 
Director of DOB LMCCC Task Force in June 2007.  Connors said that while he was at the DOB 
LMCCC offices located at Liberty Plaza on the eastside of Ground Zero, he would meet with the 
inspectors to discuss any issues in their Special Reports or any issues that came up; however, 
Connors testified that during these meetings, he never asked the inspectors about the progress of 
the demolition or what they were checking.  He said that he “gave the building” to the inspectors 
meaning that he did not want to “[lead] them by the hand” or “show them [what to] do for an 
inspection, this and that . . . ” because he wanted the inspectors “to feel responsible” and “take 
control of what they were doing.”    
 
 It was not until May 2007 that a full-time Executive Director of the DOB LMCCC Task 
Force, Robert Iulo, was officially named.  Iulo had previously been Assistant Commissioner of 
Citywide Inspections at the DOB, responsible for B.E.S.T. and other areas.  According to Iulo, a 
DOB memorandum was circulated in May 2007 naming him the Executive Director of the DOB 
LMCCC Task Force.  The memorandum also stated that Iulo would continue to lead the Safety 
and Emergency Operations team until that position was filled. Iulo testified that based on his past 
experience and on what he was told about the position, that he would be attending “a lot of 
meetings,” he felt qualified for the position. During the month of June 2007 there was a 
transition between Connors and Iulo.  But Iulo stated that he did not physically move into his 
DOB LMCCC Task Force office until August 2007.  Thus, Connors had been re-assigned as of 
June 2007, but Iulo was not fully in place until August 2007.  However, Iulo testified that the 
DOB LMCCC inspectors had been reporting to him, as well as to Connors, beginning in May 
2007. 
 
 Iulo stated that as Executive Director he did not have meetings with the DOB LMCCC 
inspectors, but that he visited 130 Liberty Street a few times and probably discussed the site with 
the inspectors then. He further testified that he probably asked the inspectors what was 
happening on the demolition floors, since that was his biggest concern, and that he knew the 
inspectors could not inspect the building as a whole. 
 
 Iulo said that he imagined the DOB LMCCC inspectors were tracing the standpipe in the 
basement and thought they knew what they were looking at but, in hindsight, they really did not 
know what they were looking at.  
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June 25, 2007 Standpipe Incident 
 
 DOI’s investigation revealed that on June 25, 2007, DOB LMCCC Inspector Aaron 
Williamson discovered that Standpipe “A,” one of the two standpipes at 130 Liberty Street, was 
not capped one floor below the demolition floor as required by Subchapter 19 of the New York 
City Building Code. Williamson testified that he observed that Standpipe “A” was capped on the 
28th floor and not on the 31st floor, which would have been one floor below the demolition floor. 
According to Williamson, this constituted a “hazardous” violation.   
 
 Upon further inspection of Standpipe “A,” Williamson testified that he also saw that the 
standpipe had been breached in that the stem of the standpipe (the part the firefighters use as a 
connector to hook the fire hose to the standpipe) was missing and in its place was a plank of 
wood lying horizontally between the two sections of pipe on the 28th floor.  Williamson notified 
Iulo, (Connors was no longer in place), and told Iulo that a Stop Work Order needed to be 
issued.13  Iulo told Williamson not to issue the Stop Work Order but to give Bovis two hours to 
fix the standpipe-related violation.  Williamson notified Bovis Site Safety Manager Jeff 
Melofchik of both violating conditions.14  However, the witnesses said and the DOB confirmed, 
that these circumstances made this a “hazardous” violation, meaning the inspector should not 
refrain from issuing the violation and Stop Work Order.  Williamson also said that he told Iulo 
that Bovis should be made to test the standpipe following its repair. 
 
 According to Williamson, he spoke to Melofchik about this situation. According to 
Williamson, Melofchik stated the stem of the standpipe was removed and replaced with a plank 
of wood in order to clean the stem of foam used in the abatement process.  
 
 Within two hours, that portion of the standpipe where Williamson had observed the 
breach was fixed in that the plank of wood was removed and the stem of the standpipe had been 
replaced.  Williamson again stated that because of the incident he told Iulo that the standpipe 
should be hydrostatic tested to make sure that it was functioning.15  However, Williamson said 
the standpipe was not tested.  Williamson felt this incident was serious.  
 
 Remarkably, Iulo testified he had no recollection of this June 25, 2007 incident involving 
a plank of wood in the standpipe, any conversations with Williamson about such a situation and 
how to handle it, or any request from Williamson for the standpipe to be tested.  According to 
Williamson’s testimony, neither Williamson nor Iulo directed Bovis to test the standpipe, and 
Bovis did not test the standpipe on its own.  
 

                                                 
13 The violations issued to Bovis would have been: (1) failure to cap the standpipe one floor below the demolition 
floor and (2) breach in the standpipe. 
 
14 As mentioned, the NYCDAO indicted Jeff Melofchik on December 22, 2008 for manslaughter and other criminal 
offenses in the deaths of Firefighters Robert Beddia and Joseph Graffagnino. 
15   Such a “test shall demonstrate that the [standpipe] system will sustain a hydrostatic pressure of at least 100 psig 
and at least 300 psig at the Siamese connection for a period of at least one hour at the top most hose outlet and at the 
lowest fire pump supply connection to the [standpipe] system.” Title 27 of the 1968 Building Code, Subchapter 17, 
Article 3, Section 27-951(g)(1)(a). Thus, the entirety of the standpipe is tested in this process from the Siamese 
connection to the top most hose. Any breach, anywhere in the standpipe should be detected in such a test.  
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 Williamson filed his Special Report for June 25, 2007 with Iulo, which did not include a 
description of the aforementioned incident because, according to Williamson, Iulo instructed him 
not to include the incident from June 25, 2007 in the Special Report. However, Williamson 
stated that he did a second “Special Report” for his own records that did include a description of 
the incident. That report, he asserted, was not given to anyone. DOI obtained both versions of the 
June 25, 2007 Special Report, one that does and one that does not make reference to a standpipe 
incident.  Williamson’s second “Special Report” contained one photo of the plank of wood in the 
standpipe that Williamson said he took on June 25, 2007. DOI checked the DOB Digital Photo 
System and verified that the picture Williamson took of the standpipe was uploaded to the 
system on June 27, 2007.  
 
 Iulo reported to Christopher Santulli, the DOB Manhattan Borough Commissioner.  
Williamson did not go up the chain of command and report the June 25, 2007 incident to 
Santulli.  Williamson also testified to DOI he did not contact Connors and discuss this incident 
with him. 
  
 Similarly, Connors testified that he had not been told of this standpipe incident before the 
August 18, 2007 fire. Connors stated that a couple of days after the fire Williamson e-mailed him 
a picture of what appeared to be a standpipe with a plank of wood lying horizontally through the 
pipe. (On August 20, 2007, Williamson emailed  Connors and Iulo one of the photos he took on 
June 25, 2007 of the standpipe with the plank of wood.) Connors could not recall his reaction to 
seeing this picture nor any conversations he had with Williamson regarding the standpipe. 
Connors said that he never saw Williamson’s second “Special Report.”  Connors said that he 
referred Williamson’s information and the photograph to Eric Reid, who at the time was a DOB 
forensic engineer leading an inquiry for the DOB to determine any needed amendments to 
procedures or building code provisions. 
  
 Disciplinary charges were drafted against Iulo based on his failure as the DOB LMCCC 
Executive Director to (1) ensure that inspections were performed in an efficient and adequate 
manner and  (2) ensure that the DOB inspectors assigned to the LMCCC were properly trained to 
perform their job functions at 130 Liberty Street. Iulo was officially served with charges on 
February 17, 2009. On February 20, 2009 Iulo officially retired from DOB with charges pending.  
 
 It should be noted that on the day of the fatal fire, August 18, 2007, it was Standpipe “A” 
that failed to supply the firefighters with water needed to extinguish the fire. The DOB notes that 
the missing stem of the standpipe with the plank of wood discovered by their LMCCC inspector 
Williamson on the 28th floor, was above the level of the August 18th fire, which took place on the 
17th floor.  The DOB also notes that the NYCDAO report stated that a 42-foot breach of the 
standpipe in the basement, not the breach discovered by Williamson, was what rendered the 
standpipe inoperable on the day of the fire.  However, a pressure test of a standpipe, such as the 
one Williamson wanted performed on June 25, 2007, would have detected a breach anywhere in 
the standpipe. The DOB also notes that the provisions of the Building Code do not require 
hydrostatic pressure tests to be performed as a result of removal of the upper portions of the 
standpipe system as the upper stories of a building are being demolished.  While not required, a 
DOB LMCCC inspector wanted one performed on June 25, 2007 due to circumstances that 
alarmed him.  
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Conclusion  
 
 DOI’s investigation determined that there was an overall breakdown in several key areas 
regarding the oversight and inspection process of 130 Liberty Street. DOB LMCCC inspectors 
were not provided with adequate training for a building of this magnitude undergoing concurrent 
abatement and demolition. As Inspector Bridgeforth testified, she was not really trained on the 
standpipe system and did not understand how the standpipe system worked.  
 
 Based upon the testimony taken by DOI, 130 Liberty Street was undergoing concurrent 
abatement and demolition activities. It was DOB policy for inspectors not to enter the abatement 
floors. In light of this, there was no strategic inspection plan ever established that would provide 
the DOB LMCCC inspectors with the ability or access to inspect the abatement floors.  
Furthermore, various agencies that had access to different floors and different areas of the 
building did not request pertinent information from one another.  
 
 In addition, there was a lack of coordination between DOB’s LMCCC Taskforce and the 
B.E.S.T. Squad in terms of training the DOB LMCCC inspectors. Both units reported to Iulo 
prior to August 2007, and yet even with one person overseeing both of those units there was still 
a lack of coordination.  Even though DOB was made aware of the lack of coordination, and even 
though Santulli held a meeting to resolve this issue,  there was no follow up by Santulli, Vishev, 
Connors and Iulo to ensure that the B.E.S.T. Squad was training the DOB LMCCC inspectors on 
site safety issues.   
 
 Furthermore, there was an overall lack of supervision over the DOB LMCCC inspectors. 
As Connors testified, he turned responsibility for inspecting the building over to the DOB 
LMCCC inspectors without any specific instructions or directions and assumed that they would 
know how to inspect a building with such complexities. In addition, when Iulo became the 
Executive Director he never provided the DOB LMCCC inspectors with a checklist nor did he 
provide them with any specific instructions or directions on what to inspect. 
 
 Regarding the June 25, 2007 standpipe incident, as Inspector Williamson testified, upon 
observing a plank of wood lying horizontally through the standpipe on the 28th floor, he testified 
that he told Iulo that a Stop Work Order should be issued and that the standpipe should be tested, 
pressure testing the standpipe system. Thus, if the standpipe had been tested in June 2007, and if 
the standpipe was cut at that time, that test should have shown that to be the case. According to 
the DA’s report, the catastrophic failure of the standpipe was the result of it being cut during the 
fall of 2006. While the plank of wood in the standpipe identified on June 25, 2007 was therefore 
not the cause of the catastrophic failure of the standpipe, a full test of the standpipe at that time 
should have revealed its other breach. Not conducting the pressure test on June 25, 2007, which a 
DOB LMCCC inspector thought should be done, was a serious missed opportunity to discover 
the other issues that then existed with the standpipe. 
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E. DOB Reforms Since the August 18, 2007 Fire 
 
 Since August 18, 2007, DOB has implemented several changes at 130  
Liberty Street to improve the building inspection process and to ensure site safety, such as: 
 

• A site specific checklist for 130 Liberty Street was created for the inspectors. 
 

• Inspectors were given 30 hours of OSHA training. 
 

• Inspectors received an additional one week on-the-job training with a B.E.S.T. inspector.  
 

• Inspectors were given training so that they can now enter the contaminated areas. 
 

• Additional “no smoking” signs have been posted at the site and are written in both 
English and Spanish. A dog is now stationed at the site to detect smoking materials, such 
as lighters, matches, and cigarettes. 

 
• The standpipe is now equipped with a pressurized-alarm system so that if there is a 

breach in the standpipe system the alarm will sound. 
 

• The standpipe has been painted red. 
 

• A team of ten inspectors has been dedicated to the site (six DOB inspectors and four on 
loan from HPD) in order to provide the required six days per week, 24 hours a day 
coverage matching that of the contractors’ work schedule.  (This is being implemented 
through the abatement phase.) 

 
• A team of six inspectors has been made available to provide full-time inspection 

coverage for safety issues such as egress, fire protection, and other Building Code 
requirements.  (This will be implemented through the deconstruction phase.) 

 
• Standard inspection checklists are now utilized so inspections can be performed 

consistently and completely by each inspector.   Checklists include:  
 

o Making sure there is no unobstructed egress. 
o Enforcing a zero tolerance policy for violations of the "No Smoking" regulations 

adopted in the 2008 Fire Code. 
o Inspecting the crane, hoists, scaffold, and sheds for compliance with safety 

requirements set forth by the code and recently enacted legislation. 
o Reviewing the Site Safety Manager's log to ensure that it is kept up to date with 

the results of the daily oversight by the Site Safety Manager as required by law. 
o Reviewing the standpipe cutting and capping process as the demolition proceeds. 
o Tracing the critical standpipe systems completely from the Siamese connections 

through to the standpipe. 
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• Inspectors have been trained in the use of asbestos protective equipment and enter the 
abatement areas to inspect for safety issues such as egress, fire protection, and other 
Building Code requirements. 

 
• Routine BEST inspections of the site are performed and dedicated site inspectors have 

been trained. 
 

• Hazardous conditions now require immediate correction, including the issuance of any 
necessary ECB violations. 

 
• DOB has allocated additional engineering and high-rise plan examination staff who focus 

on safe demolition means and methods and inspect the site three times per week.   
 

• DOB now requires detailed drawings of the decontamination enclosure systems and other 
related physical construction required to support the abatement. 

 
• DOB now requires engineered drawings for the removal of sections of the building, 

including mechanical equipment calculations and details where used. 
 
 
F. Mayor’s Citywide Task Force Response 

 
 Following the fire at 130 Liberty, Mayor Michael R. Bloomberg ordered a 
comprehensive review of oversight and operations at construction, demolition, and abatement 
sites. Deputy Mayor Edward Skyler led the seven-month review by a working group comprised 
of DOB, FDNY, the DEP, the Law Department and the Mayor’s Office of Operations. 
 
 In July 2008, the working group issued a report entitled “Strengthening the Oversight of 
Construction, Demolition, and Abatement Operations” (CDA), which contained 33 
recommendations designed to increase the safety of CDA operations in the field. The 33 
recommendations focused in three key areas (and legislation has been introduced to effectuate 
the changes, and in some cases the legislation has been passed, but not signed by the Mayor). 
The three key areas are: Regulating the oversight and safety of asbestos abatement; improving 
inter-agency communication and enhancing safety at construction and demolition sites; and 
strengthening standpipe and sprinkler safety.16 
 
 In early May 2009, Deputy Mayor Skyler announced a comprehensive legislative 
package designed to improve safety protocols, increase City oversight and enhance inter-agency 
communication at construction, demolition and abatement sites in New York City.  
 
 
 
 

                                                 
16 The full report is available at the following link: http://www.nyc.gov/html/om/pdf/2008/pr277-
08_safety_report.pdf. 
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G. Policy and Procedure Recommendations 
 
 However, in light of the findings of this investigation, DOI additionally recommends that 
DOB implement the following policy and procedure recommendations set forth below to the 
extent they are not already covered by the CDA task force work.   
 
 

1. A uniform site safety log sheet that incorporates a checklist from the Rules of the City 
of New York should be created by DOB and distributed to all contractors upon 
obtaining a work permit that requires a site safety manager at the site. The uniform 
site safety log sheet should list specific items that the site safety manager is required 
to inspect, such as the standpipe, stairwells, means of egress, guardrails, horizontal 
safety netting, housekeeping, etc. This log sheet must be filled out daily by the site 
safety manager. 

 
 

2. The DOB should send a memorandum to the entire inspectorial staff reminding them 
that as part of their construction monitoring duties they are required to review the site 
safety manager’s log while inspecting site safety projects.  DOI’s investigation found 
that DOB LMCCC inspectors were not routinely checking the site safety logs.  

 
3. We believe that reciprocal cross-training is vital and should become an established 

part of training for DOB and FDNY to educate their respective personnel on their 
respective safety requirements. As part of the implementation of the 
recommendations developed during the City’s review of construction, demolition and 
abatement operations (the “CDA recommendations), some cross-training of FDNY, 
DOB and DEP inspectors has occurred; this cross-training should be expanded and 
institutionalized.   

 
4. The DOB should establish a cross-training program with the New York City 

Department of Housing Preservation and Development’s demolition inspectors to 
further educate the DOB inspectors on demolition projects. 

    
5. Regardless of the type of permit issued to a contractor, the DOB should not permit 

projects to undergo demolition until the abatement process is fully completed. DOI’s 
investigation found that at 130 Liberty Street a demolition permit was not issued. 
Instead, an Alteration Type 2 permit was issued, which allowed the building to 
undergo concurrent abatement and demolition.  There is pending legislation regarding 
this matter. 

 
6. Currently, all DOB inspectors are responsible for taking pictures at construction sites 

during their inspections and for uploading these pictures onto the DOB digital photo 
system. However, based upon DOI’s investigation, while pictures are being uploaded 
to the system, they are not being saved in a uniform manner thus making it difficult to 
search the system for particular pictures. Therefore, DOB should reissue to all DOB 
personnel the DOB March 2007 Standard Operating Procedure for Camera 
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Deployment and Photo Management. DOB should also specifically remind inspectors 
that they should follow the SOP when uploading and saving pictures to the system.   

 
7. Additionally, DOB should remind DOB inspectors that photographs taken by DOB 

inspectors at construction sites should be uploaded onto the DOB digital photo system 
by the end of the inspector’s work week. 

 
8. DOI's investigation found that supervisors too often took a backseat role in 

monitoring and assisting their inspectors and inspections. DOB supervisors should 
guide their staff, ensuring they have a complete understanding of the site, including 
safety and environmental concerns and how the inspections play a role in overall 
safety at the site. Therefore, like other agencies, DOB should consider drafting 
written guidelines regarding supervision of inspectors. In the meantime, DOB should 
issue a memorandum reminding supervisors that they are responsible and accountable 
for ensuring that inspectors are properly performing inspections and enforcing 
compliance with the Building Code. Supervisors should also have regular meetings 
with their staff to anticipate potential issues and address them proactively. 
Additionally, supervisors should be reviewing paperwork, such as routing sheets, 
inspection reports and violations written by inspectors to monitor inspectors and spot 
any potential issues. 

 
 

V. Final Observations 
 
 This administrative investigation undertaken by the City regarding the Buildings and Fire 
Departments revealed flaws and errors in their procedures. With such circumstances the City felt 
a self-examination was the right thing to do. But while there were errors by the City agencies 
responsible for inspecting the building, as the District Attorney said in his report, “everyone 
failed at the Deutsche Bank building.” The subcontractor, The John Galt Corp., and the 
individuals permitted to work with The John Galt Corp., should never have had this project in the 
first place. The manner by which they conducted this project and its lack of site safety, now the 
subject of a criminal indictment, was an underlying problem. 
 
   
 
 


























































































































